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INTRODUCTION by Nicholas Rankin


Nicholas Rankin





George Lowther Steer raced through his life, packing eight books and four wars into his final decade, and died abruptly at the age of thirty-five when he crashed an overloaded jeep in wartime Bengal on Christmas Day 1944. By then he was a lieutenant colonel in the Intelligence Corps of the British Army, commanding the Indian Field Broadcasting Units he had founded for the Special Operations Executive. His armed propaganda squads worked at close quarters in Burma, megaphoning music and messages to Japanese soldiers in their bunkers, trying to get them to surrender, and they also moved among the local villagers, setting up markets and networks, doing ‘hearts and minds’ work. The impact of the crash tore the watch he habitually wore off Steer’s wrist. When his Indian soldiers found it near his body, they read the inscription on its back: ‘TO STEER FROM EUZKADI’ – to Steer from the autonomous Basque Republic.


To understand why the Basque people gave Steer that gold watch, and why seven decades later their descendants erected a bronze bust of the young foreigner in the very heart of their homeland, take the advice that the American war correspondent Martha Gellhorn gave her mentor Eleanor Roosevelt early in 1938:




You must read a book by a man named Steer: it is called the Tree of Gernika. It is about the fight of the Basques – he’s the London Times man – and no better book has come out of the war and he says well all the things I have tried to say to you the times I saw you, after Spain. It is beautifully written and true, and few books are like that, and fewer still that deal with war. Please get it.





‘The war’ was the Spanish Civil War, which started in July 1936 when General Francisco Franco led a right-wing insurrection against the left-wing government of the Republic of Spain, and did not end until April 1939. As the country fractured and crazed along many dividing lines, the Republic offered greater autonomy to Spain’s regions in return for their military support against Franco’s rebels. The two richest industrial areas in the north-west and north-east, the Basque country and Catalonia, went for the deal. People in both areas spoke their own language, enjoyed their own distinctive cultural traditions, and nursed dreams of Basque or Catalan nationhood. General Franco’s rebels, however, claiming to speak for the greater nationalism of one unified Spain, hated any devolution from central control and, summoning military aid from foreign powers like Nazi Germany and Fascist Italy, determined to destroy the ‘Red separatists’.


G. L. Steer, not long returned from the Italo-Abyssinian war, reported some of this early fighting in north-west Spain for The Times, and slowly got drawn deeper into the lives of the beret-wearing Basque people. The Tree of Gernika tells how Euzkadi, the democratic republic that the Basques created in their green homeland by the Bay of Biscay, fought for freedom and decency in an atrocious civil war. After a year of struggle, blockaded by sea, bombed from the air, fighting against overwhelming odds in their own hills, the Basques in the end lost to Franco’s forces – but they lost honourably, without resorting to murder, torture and treachery.


Steer was a twenty-seven-year-old reporter, then freelancing for The Times, when he wrote the most important dispatch of his life, alerting the whole world to the destruction from the air of the town that Basques spell Gernika and Spaniards Guernica. His story, run by both The Times and the New York Times (which put it on its front page) on Wednesday 28 April 1937, described how a fleet of German aircraft dumped high-explosive blast-bombs and thousands of thermite incendiary bombs on Gernika, the undefended small town whose oak-tree symbolised Basque liberties and democracy, while German fighter planes swooped low to machine-gun its fleeing civilians.


Now the twentieth century’s greatest painter enters the story. Reading about this atrocity in the newspapers and seeing stark photos of the burning town at night, Pablo Picasso in Paris began painting his huge black and white canvas Guernica. Meanwhile, the strong public reaction to the bombing of civilians forced a change in the hands-off policy of the British government, which subsequently allowed 4,000 Basque children to find refuge, and new lives, in the United Kingdom.




 





The Tree of Gernika, subtitled A Field Study of Modern War, was first published by Hodder & Stoughton in January 1938, a few months after the Basques were defeated by Franco’s forces, with many imprisoned and thousands more forced into exile. In his scholarly study The Royal Navy and the Siege of Bilbao (CUP, 1979), the diplomatist and naval historian Sir James Cable recognised Steer’s book as ‘a work of passionate engagement, a vivid, moving, exciting justification of Basque nationalism, a shrewd, if slanted, analysis of the circumstances and causes of their defeat, an urgent warning to his own countrymen of the wrath to come.’ For Cable, ‘the special value of [Steer’s] account … resides in its very bias.’


‘It goes without saying’, George Orwell opened his Time and Tide review of The Tree of Gernika in February 1938, ‘that everyone who writes of the Spanish war writes as a partisan.’ But then there is really no such thing as objective war reporting. ‘In a war, you must hate somebody or love somebody’, the Hungarian war photographer Robert Capa once said, ‘you must have a position or you cannot stand what goes on.’ (Quoted in John G. Morris, Get the Picture: A Personal History of Photojournalism, Chicago, 2002.) In her biography Martha Gellhorn (Chatto & Windus, 2003), Caroline Moorehead suggests that the murderous violence of the Spanish Civil War made Gellhorn question ‘all that objectivity shit.’ Her first-ever dispatch from a war zone was about the citizens of Madrid trying to live their daily lives under erratic and brutal shelling; for Gellhorn, the pity and terror of such events made ‘objectivity’ inhuman.


The Tree of Gernika is a masterpiece of narrative history and eyewitness reporting by someone close to the key events, for Steer was granted unrivalled access by the Basque government. Why did Steer get on so well with the Basques? For one thing, they were ‘not very Continental’, not the dodgy and over-excitable foreigners that what he called ‘the bonehead Englishman’ traditionally despised. It is as well to deal with such racial stereotypes from the start because Steer calls the Basques a ‘race’ in the very first sentence of the introduction to The Tree of Gernika. Although educated at Winchester and Oxford, Steer was born and spent his childhood in South Africa where people thought in terms of ‘races’. A creature of his age, Steer generalises and typifies, writing of ‘the Basques’ and ‘the Basque’ because cultural difference is the crux of his story. In chapters II and III of The Tree of Gernika (deliberately not spelled ‘Guernica’, to assert local rights) Steer explained that Basque nationalism and Basque democracy were based on ‘the Basque’s’ sense of exceptionalism: ‘his ancient language, with its unrelated roots in the pre-history of Europe, his customs of land tenure and local government, his melancholy songs and Homeric sports, his simplicity against the cunningness of Spain.’


What Steer finds in Basquedom is a version of Britishness. Here is another ‘profoundly nautical’ people who have gone out into the world on boats to trade, and who, Steer stresses, were the first to establish the principle of the freedom of the seas in a maritime treaty with Edward III of England in 1351. These commercial links developed with the nineteenth-century industrial revolution that transformed Bilbao. It was British skilled workers, imported for the mining, steel and shipyard sectors, who first introduced soccer into the Basque country and founded Athletic Club Bilbao around 1898. (Under the regime of General Franco, the football team had to change its name to the Spanish Atlético de Bilbao, but later they reverted to traditional English spelling.)


When Steer met the autonomous Basque president José Antonio Aguirre for the first time (see Chapter X), and began to establish the kind of close, valuable relationship he had had with Emperor Haile Selassie in Ethiopia, the reporter noticed the president’s ‘chesty walk’, a relic of his time as former inside-right for Athletic Bilbao. He also found ‘something rather sporting’ about Aguirre’s humanitarian attitude to the war. Not for the Basque president the murderous ruthlessness of the Spanish, neither ‘military Fascism from without’ nor ‘proletarian pressure from within’. Steer reckoned that ‘the Basque fought against both extremes … for tolerance and free discussion, gentleness and equality.’




[Aguirre] was captain of a soccer team again, and even if they lost they were going to obey the whistle and the rules. No biting; no hacking; no tripping. Not very Continental, in fact. And the Basques were not. As one went out into the drizzle again, it looked a bit like Liverpool, with the shops shut, and the Irish away at Blackpool and the Protestants decently staying at home and keeping the King’s Peace.





The standard narrative of the foreigner in the Spanish Civil War is one of disillusionment. Idealistic lad joins up hopefully, finds war is beastly and foul, is wounded or retires upset. Steer’s book is not really like that. Unlike most of those siding with the Spanish Republic, he is not naturally a man of the left, but being a mild Anglican, neither is he a dupe of the Catholic right. Steer is an intellectual who enjoyed reading George Herbert in the trenches, but he is not neutral or pacifist. He likes or accepts war. He sometimes finds being shelled – and he was under fire scores of times – hilariously funny. At other times war is like being in a nightmarish jackdaw’s garden, ‘full of hard, sharp things that reflect light and of the wretched dead worms and grubs and broken insects that serve him for fodder.’


Though sometimes cynical, Steer is never callous: the descriptions of civilians after bombings, the young men who are maimed in the line, the last battalions going up the slopes of their duty into the dark, the silent wounded in the night-time ship awaiting evacuation, all draw from him tender prose. Not all is good: the mixture of overwriting and sarcasm at Durango is less successful, and he might have reconsidered the tone of this early section if he had not had the pressure of writing in wartime. It is possible he never saw galleys or proofs; there are quite a few literals, typos and small mistakes (e.g. it was Marcel not Albert Junod of the Red Cross). Despite this, his gift for sketching character and scene in a few words is marvellous, and his imagery and prose rhythms often masterly. Well-read and cogent, Steer can command many styles. He is not just a hack tapping out staccato news, but a real writer who shows tantalising glimpses of the great novelist he might have become had he lived longer. And his liking and admiration for the Basques shines through the last paragraphs of the book’s noble ending.




 





In many ways, The Tree of Gernika is an argument with Great Britain at a time when the Conservative governments of Stanley Baldwin and then Neville Chamberlain were anxious to appease Nazi Germany and Fascist Italy. While the democracies like Britain and France rigorously upheld a policy of non-intervention in Spain, the opposing dictatorships smilingly pretended to comply while in fact deliberately evading it. Early in April 1937, the British Cabinet forbade British cargo ships from going into besieged Bilbao because, they claimed, Franco’s naval blockade was effective, and the sea-ways mined. In Bilbao, Steer discovered this was not true; the blockade was mostly bluff, the mines were cleared, and the Basque capital was on the brink of starvation without foreign food ships. Steer considered the British stoppage of trade was tantamount to intervention in the Spanish Civil War on Franco’s side. His reports in The Times pressed the point, and behind the scenes Steer was also covertly lobbying key Members of Parliament to get the naval policy changed so that basic food-stuffs could get through. Recent research in the correspondence of the Labour MP (and future Nobel Peace Prize-winner) Philip Noel-Baker shows how active Steer was in the Basque cause.* British official humbug should never stop a committed reporter from doing his job, Steer explains in Chapter XVI:




I take to myself the credit that I, before anyone else, exposed the fake in the blockade and recovered the truth. A journalist is not a simple purveyor of news, whether sensational or controversial, or well-written, or merely funny. He is a historian of every day’s events, and he has a duty to his public. If he is kept from his public, he must use other methods; for as a historian in little, he belongs to the most honourable profession in the world, and as a historian must be filled with the most passionate and most critical attachment to the truth, so must the journalist, with the great power that he wields, see that the truth prevails. I did not rest until I had torn this falsehood to pieces.





Perhaps the British should have been doing more to support the democratic Basques, not just for the historic reason that in the First World War Basque ships had dodged German submarines to bring much-needed iron ore to British steel-makers, but because helping the Basques in the present served Britain’s strategic interest as Europe re-armed. Before the civil war, about a third of the 2.7 million tons of iron ore exported from Spain came to Britain to supplement the UK’s own low-grade resources. In May 1937, the Economist magazine gave its materialist reading of the Spanish conflict:




If General Franco is victorious, Italy and Germany will obviously obtain access to much needed supplies of strategic minerals for their drive towards self-sufficiency in the face of exchange difficulties. New reserves of iron ore would greatly benefit the enlarged German and Italian iron and steel industries, which are both suffering from a shortage of supplies.





On 27 June 1937, speaking at Würzburg, Adolf Hitler openly confirmed this: ‘Germany needs to import iron ore. That is why we want a Nationalist Government in Spain, so that we may be able to buy Spanish ore.’ This was why Nazi Germany and Fascist Italy sent up to 100,000 soldiers, sailors and airmen to help General Franco’s insurgency against the elected government (in addition to the 20,000 Portuguese and 75,000 Moroccan volunteers that Franco employed). Those forces were loaned on credit, to be paid back in the minerals necessary to manufacture even more vehicles and weaponry for future fascist blitzkrieg.


Thanks to Steer, the Legion Kondor’s bombing of Gernika on 26 April 1937 became the best-known aktion of the German military intervention in Spain. Because he had been tracking the experimental weapons and tactics employed by the Luftwaffe pilots flying for the Nationalists, Steer could report in The Times their massive use of 1 kg thermite incendiary bombs, setting the place ablaze. Because he was close to the Basques, Steer could also explain why the destructive attack on ‘the village which was the centre of their national feeling’ mattered so much. Steer describes again the dramatic events of that day vividly in Chapter XX of The Tree of Gernika:




We tried to enter, but the streets were a royal carpet of live coals; blocks of wreckage slithered and crashed from the houses, and from their sides that were still erect the polished heat struck at our cheeks and eyes. There were people, they said, to be saved there: there were the frameworks of dozens of cars. But nothing could be done, and we put our hands in our pockets and wondered why on earth the world was so mad and warfare become so easy.





Steer draws some morals from the air-raid in chapters XXI and XXII, suggesting that the news affected British public opinion strongly because it evoked memories of the Great War of 1914–18, when German aircraft had first bombed British cities, and also suggested dreadful future possibilities: ‘[t]he blotting out of Hull, for instance … Or the end of Portsmouth.’ He also points out that the destruction of Gernika led to ‘horrible and inconsistent lying’ by the radio and press on the Nationalist side, who dishonestly denied any bombing from aircraft and accused ‘Basque incendiarists’ of destroying their town with dynamite and petrol.




All these statements were denied by hundreds of real eye-witnesses with whom we spoke … Not only myself; but the correspondents of Reuter, the Star, the Daily Express, and Ce Soir of Paris. They told the same story: if there had been a tale of ‘Red destruction’ to tell, they would have been the first to cry out. For they were peasants with politics more of the Right than the Left, and they had lost all their property in the fire.


We saw the great bomb-holes in the plaza, the churches, the school, round the hospital – all of us with our own eyes. They were not there when I passed through Gernika the day before. We picked up unexploded German incendiary bombs and bomb-splinters, and saw people dead of bomb wounds and machine-gun bullets. There was no sign of petrol.†





In the introduction to The Tree of Gernika, Steer explains why he uses the words ‘we’ and ‘our’ when referring to the Basques in his narrative:




I do this because I came to know the Basque militia well, and because it was a usual journalistic method, when I was in Spain, to refer in such language to the side on which one was working. It is not to be inferred from my use of these terms that I participated in any way in the struggle.





The last sentence is economical with the truth. We can adduce from page 353 that Steer not only picked up a rifle but stood on the cobbles by the bridge firing it up at the diving planes. He was certainly in the thick of the action when he tagged along in the field with the forty-nine-year-old Frenchman he mostly calls ‘Colonel Jaureghuy’ but whose real name, ‘Monnier’, he lets slip by accident during a description of the last conference at the Carlton Hotel on page 324, and which no one caught in the proofs.


Robert Monnier was a hero of the First World War, a born leader who served with the elite Chasseurs Alpins. He was wounded four times, with two palms and four stars on his croix de guerre. In the early 1930s he got in touch with one of his former colonels, now a general on the Conseil Supérieur de la Guerre, who in turn put Monnier in touch with the Army Staff’s Deuxième Bureau for military intelligence and military missions abroad. Soon after Franco’s uprising in July 1936, Monnier was at work in the Spanish Basque country under the cover of a war correspondent, sending secret reports back to Paris. After the bombing of Guernica, Monnier became President Aguirre’s military adviser, with the tacit approval of Paris.‡ Steer befriended Monnier at the Torrontegui Hotel in Bilbao; later they shared a flat at 60, Gran Via, nearer the Presidencia. What Steer cannot really reveal in The Tree of Gernika is how much Monnier was running the show, taking command in the line, rallying the Basque militias with good soldiers like Pablo Beldarrain and Colonel Putz, and shooting his way out of trouble if need be with his broom-handle Model F Astra machine-pistol made in Gernika.


It is very clear from The Tree of Gernika that, often with Monnier and sometimes without him, George Steer was deliberately putting himself in harm’s way. He says in the introduction that other journalists were given the same facilities to get to the front. ‘[T]hat they did not use them is no fault of theirs, for they had more to lose than I in the firing-line.’ This oblique sentence needs unpicking. It really means: ‘Other journalists chose not to risk their lives at the front because they had other people who did not want to lose them.’ This is a clue to the secret story behind this remarkable book.




 





When George Steer returned from the Italo-Abyssinian war, weeks before the Spanish Civil War broke out, he was newly married to a beautiful and brilliant journalist, Margarita de Herrero y Hassett, whose father was Spanish and mother English. The Times sent Steer down to the Franco-Spanish frontier to cover the initial fighting in the Basque country, as described in his book’s first chapter. After the fall of San Sebastian to Franco’s forces on 14 September 1936, Steer left the staff of The Times and crossed the frontier into Nationalist Spain, where he completed his book about the Italian invasion of Ethiopia. At some point, late in 1936 or early in 1937, the Nationalists expelled him from their territory; possibly because Italian Intelligence read and objected to Steer’s Caesar in Abyssinia.


The leaving was the making of him. Back in Hendaye, where the British Embassy had been evacuated from Madrid, he charmed British diplomats and managed to arrange passage on a British warship to the edge of Basque territorial waters off Bilbao, getting himself into the besieged enclave of Euzkadi for six days in late January 1937 (he describes this in Chapter IX).


It was at this point that news came from England that his wife Margarita, by then heavily pregnant, was dangerously ill. The Basque government laid on a fast trawler to get him to Bayonne, and settled his abandoned hotel-bill. Steer got back to England at the end of January to find that his wife and unborn child had both died at the London Clinic. The funeral was delayed and Margarita’s body embalmed, to allow George’s mother (who had never seen the daughter-in-law who married her only child) time to get there by sea from South Africa. Grief-stricken, George Steer visited Margarita’s dead body every day for many weeks. Then more bad news came: many of the young Ethiopians he had known and loved in Addis Ababa had been massacred in the savage Italian reprisals after a failed assassination attempt on the Viceroy, Marshal Graziani.


Steer took his wife’s body south to be buried in Biarritz, then immediately crossed back into the Basque country in early April 1937, a few days after General Mola launched his assault on Euzkadi by bombing Durango, massacring many civilians. Steer’s grief and shock as he plunged back into reporting-work during April, May and June 1937 can only be imagined. But perhaps his suffering also made him empathise with the sorrows of other people at war; The Tree of Gernika shows a tender heart as well as a clever mind. Death had seized his wife and unborn child, and nearly maddened him. That helps to explain why he was so careless of his own life among the dangers of the line. It is also why this extraordinary book, the greatest account of the Spanish Civil War never (until now) to be reprinted in English, carries the dedication ‘TO MARGARITA, SNATCHED AWAY’.






* See Chapter 2, ‘Journalism at War: George Lowther Steer, Guernica and the Resistance to Fascist Aggression’ in Tom Buchanan, The Impact of the Spanish Civil War on Britain (Sussex Academic Press, 2007); and Chapter 8, ‘The Sentimental Adventurer: George Steer and the Quest for Lost Causes’ in Paul Preston, We Saw Spain Die: Foreign Correspondents in the Spanish Civil War (Constable, 2008).







† See the still magisterial Guernica! Guernica! A Study of Journalism, Diplomacy, Propaganda and History (California, 1977) by Herbert R. Southworth, for the fullest ramifications of truth and lies.







‡ See Colonel Yves Jouin, ‘Le Commandant Robert Monnier, héros de la guerre 1914–1918, organisateur de la résistance éthiopienné’, Revue Historique de l’Armée, Numero 4, 1971, pp. 38–49.
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THE TREE OF GERNIKA:


A FIELD STUDY OF MODERN WAR

























INTRODUCTION





THE BASQUES, whose suppression is the subject of this book, are a religious, deep-drinking, non-swearing race who live on the mountainous south-eastern shores of the Bay of Biscay. They are profoundly nautical; they swim  and fish in the Bay without ever feeling sea-sick. The principle of the freedom of the seas was first established by them, in a maritime treaty with Edward III of England in 1351.


Their provinces of Vizcaya, Guipuzcoa are among the richest and are by far the most progressive of Spain. Spain? There are a few things which the patient Basque will not tolerate, and one is the suggestion that he is Spanish. For him, Iberian is the safer term: it nearly conveys the idea of that antiquity and Peninsular twilight in which the Basque finds his source. Very cold, rock-bound, in scored glacial valleys, far away, pre-Mediterranean, among stones. Unlike every other Western European people, he has never passed through the feudal stage. He has always owned his land, and he has never known a landless class, either slave or villein. He has always been a member of a full democracy, in which every man has voted. To him therefore the class war, the idea of aggressive capitalism or an aggressive proletariat is meaningless. His civilisation is too old to understand the clash of motive due to a feudalism through which it has never passed. So old it is, that the words for knife, and plough, and axe are still derived from the Basque root aiz, meaning stone: so fixed is the Basque in his land, that his surnames still mean Hillside, and Warm Valley, and Appletree, and New Plum, and Rock and Fast River. His language and his people, like his democratic classless laws, rise in some mist mountain unknown to the expeditionary stunting of our new science. And why should the modern world, with all its interest engaged on Aryans and non-Aryans and the evident supremacy of Romans over blacks, trouble to explore so small and strange a cradle-load of civilisation? What has the Basque to do with progress?


Nothing of value, clearly. In the modern world he stands only for freedom between the classes, camaraderie and truthfulness, humanity under war conditions, unwillingness to fight for any extreme and violent doctrine; self-reliance, stubbornness, straightforwardness and simplicity, dislike of propaganda on his own behalf, and an open-eyed guilelessness in face of the enemy’s. He is naturally orderly, fitting into no fancy scheme of order. A big, handsome man, he is not aware of his own strength and beauty.


None of these qualities are valid in the twentieth century, and the worst of these is freedom. For which the Basque fought—and lost. He fought against great odds. And though it is more fashionable now to court the other side, I think that the common man—when he reads this story—will see, mapped out in pine-clad green mountains between Otxandiano and Bilbao, Irun and San Sebastian, the battle-ground in grand prototype of his own fight for liberty. He may hope, as I do, that it will be more successful; but he can scarcely expect that it will be more honourable.


Like the common man, the Basque fought against both extremes. He did not wish to be regimented either way. He was perfectly happy, and he wanted to be left alone. The modern forces of systemisation, the senseless slogans and salutes and party disciplines attacked him on either side. He tried to shake himself free of them.


His centre of resistance in this struggle was his great difference of type from the people who were attacking and undermining him: his ancient language, with its unrelated roots in the pre-history of Europe, his customs of land tenure and local government, his melancholy songs and Homeric sports, his simplicity against the cunningness of Spain.


The Basques are industrious, and the Spanish are idle. The Basques are all yeomen, and the Spanish would all be gentlemen. To the Spanish Basques are “brutos” and “bestias,” and to the Basques the Spanish are intriguers, twisters and political parasites, who live on the products of other people’s industry, and somehow evade payment before bankruptcy. These local differences were the visible fighting points for the Basques; but, in reality, the Spanish attack upon the Basques represented something less parochial and customary. It came in the guise of military Fascism from without, and proletarian pressure from within. In either way it was an attack upon Basque liberties, and the Basque organism resisted until it broke down.


In this war the Basque fought for tolerance and free discussion, gentleness and equality. This book shows how he lost. His was a very human tragedy the destruction of man by a system, of spirit by routine.


I was able to watch the Basques at war during four periods: August to September, 1936, when I was on the Franco-Spanish frontier; January, 1937, when I was in Bilbao; during the last ferocious offensive of Mola in the months of April, May and June, with which this book largely deals; and in August, 1937, just before they were tricked into surrender. These were the months when foreign ideas and their instruments were brought to bear on the Basques most intensely, finally destroying them.


Through the year in which the Basques existed as a semi-independent people, one can trace the development of the forces arrayed against them—from their beginning in a class and regional Spanish rising, to their end in a Fascist military dictatorship. For in their enemies, too, the moderate and natural were slowly being extinguished: their enemies, who first came against them in August all gay in red berets, with flowers in their rifles from the upland province of Navarre, now crawled slowly forward under the air fleet of Germany and Italy, before the fire of the artillery of Germany and Italy, and with Italian troops to right and left. An international staff drove them forward, and in their centre, lost in the battle of the systems, were the last few brigades of Navarre—steel-helmeted now from some foreign factory.


The vast majority of the things that I write about in this book were seen by me. In August and September, as the book shows, I had a very intimate window on the war: an umpire’s view. During the last great offensive, from April to June, the Basque authorities in Bilbao permitted me absolute freedom of movement and manœuvre within their territory. I could go without hindrance or escort to any part of the front at any time. Other journalists were given the same facilities: that they did not use them as much as I did is no fault of theirs, for they had more to lose than I in the firing line.




 





Throughout the latter part of this narrative, since it is on the whole first-hand, I use the words “we” and “our” in reference to the Basques. I do this because I came to know the Basque militia well, and because it was a usual journalistic method, when I was in Spain, to refer in such language to the side on which one was working. It is not to be inferred from my use of these terms that I participated in any way in the struggle. Nor that by my sympathy with the Basque people, crushed like many of us between the two extremes, I was unable to detect their failings, the often rheumatical movements of their armies, their stubbornness and occasional unwillingness to co-operate, their extraordinary inability to organise their rearguard in a way fit to meet the psychological shocks of war. This book is, on the other hand, full of a Lower Criticism of the most objectionable Oxford kind. It will, perhaps, be banned by the Basques when they get back to Bilbao.


But I do not think they will go so far against me. They always faced free criticism, and echoed the laugh against themselves. That is why I liked them, and regret their untimely eclipse, and look forward to a resurrection of Europe’s oldest, more honest, democracy.



















I





IN THE NORTH OF SPAIN something like stability had reigned since the revolt began.


The Basque provinces of Guipuzcoa (capital San Sebastian) and Vizcaya (capital Bilbao) had declared for the Government, which promised Basque autonomy: the dream of all this fishing race in the blue swagger berets and the striped blue trousers was to restore the ancient Basque republic—classless, gruff and moneyed—under the leaves of the tribal oak at Gernika. Catholics to a man—not to a woman only as in other parts of Spain—they nevertheless prized their freedom from the class-ridden, over-rhetorical tradition of Castile so highly that they were willing to make terms with agnostic Madrid. The Statute! That was the divine end of their coalitions. The Statute; the Basque tongue, as crumpled and old yet evergreen as their oak; their own free peasant life; their own taxes and dues: they wanted little more, and nothing so deeply.


At first all went easily. In Vizcaya and its great port Bilbao there was no resistance to the Republic. In San Sebastian revolt, ill improvised, taken aback by the suddenness of Mola’s rising, was soon crushed.


Yet how little stood between the revolt and triumph in San Sebastian.


Do you know San Sebastian in summer, under the Republic? It used to be, when the Habsburg-Bourbons ruled Spain, the smartest resort of the peninsula. The richest families of Spain built villas at Zarauz. Alfonso XIII, after a short stay at Santander, would spend August and September at his summer palace of Miramar above the sweeping Concha, whose bright sands were covered by the tent-shelters and the striped parasols of hundreds of the middle class. These, their eyes drowsily bent upon the level ocean accented aigu or grave by the white wind-stepped verticals of a hundred yachts, swelled as smooth as Biscay with the contemplative pleasure of summer, when all Europe, that has the means to, rests.


True, Primo de Rivera had closed down upon the gambling tables, and to play your games or enjoy a night club you had to cross to the French side. But the simpler vegetative amusements kept many Spaniards at San Sebastian: fêtes at the Club Nautico, dancing in the silken evening on the square at Zarauz, where the fishermen had called the aristocracy tu from childhood and danced beside them, drawn by the glitter of such beautiful features, forms and movements. For the Spanish aristocracy, with its many faults, was elegant above all others.


The Republic succeeded to the inheritance of San Sebastian; Alcalá de Zamora, timid President, came down to summer at Miramar in the safe company of seven hundred guardias de asalto. The bourgeois Republican element in its festivities prevailed more and more in the capital of Guipuzcoa. The Concha was crowded: less tents, more cheaply-slippered feet in circulation. At the Perla more dancing and more beauty contests: Miss Avila, Miss Santander, Miss Dax, Miss Biarritz were acclaimed in turn by competitive Republican blondes with bathing dresses cut lower and voices cast a trifle more raucous than before. The municipal authorities installed drastic loud-speakers around the beach, even above the Ambassadors’ select cove behind the prison (in whose waters, on clear halcyon days, the prison drains could be seen emerging). Alternately, the loud-speakers blasted dance music and riveted advertisements into the democratic consciousness. Bathing belles shrieked with excitement as the new cold water of the sea reached danger point about their groins. The remarkable noise was echoed from the skies, where small planes frenzied across San Sebastian beach, dropping coloured advertisements, and rarely one of the local macintoshes as a gift. Children and grown men, yelling in unison, scrambled and strangled each other for these precious parcels. The quieter Monarchist presidents of the Aero Club and the Club Nautico were replaced by Basques more loudly based upon the régime.


To be short, San Sebastian in summer became grandly vulgar; the row was appalling, and taste was industriously democratic. Girls dressed up as their favourite film stars, the fluffier the sweeter. Children were continually lost on the beach, but their parents enjoyed to the full the opportunity to bawl their names and descriptions down the loud-speakers.


The Basques were glad: it brought San Sebastian up to date, made it the plage of the classes released, enriched and suddenly confronted with Need of a Holiday by the revolution of 1931. The partisans of the old Court still came to the coast, for they could not abandon their properties there: but the Basques, who are tough and uncompromising creatures, regarded these less rich, still titled, still beautiful people as effete. It was the nice noisy people who were going to give them their Estatuto.


They went on broad-shoulderedly beating about their pelota courts, drinking their rough wine and sweating it off in exercise, hoping that the Estatuto would arrive one day, dropped from the sky like the parcels containing their gift macintoshes.


When Calvo Sotelo was murdered in vengeance by the police agents of the Republic, his friends—there were many of them quietly resting by the sea—attended a memorial service for him at San Sebastian. It was broken up by the police.


When Mola proclaimed the rebellion in Pampluna, the commander of the garrison at the Loyola barracks outside San Sebastian also collected his officers and proclaimed martial law. He made an extraordinarily Spanish muddle of it. For, first of all, he warned the Civil Governor of the step which he proposed to take, and the Civil Governor armed the civilian population in defence of the Government.


Many adherents of the Right were lying low in San Sebastian, and joined the conspirators at the Maria Cristina Hotel—smartest in San Sebastian—and their old Club Nautico and the Casino, under arms. But not enough to defend these scattered buildings.


If the soldiers had had more courage and come out into the open street, they could have taken San Sebastian the first day of the revolt. In spite of their arms everybody panicked; nobody except the extremists organised: the Basques, for all their contempt of Castile, are slower-witted people. White flags were up everywhere. All the holiday-makers were sure—not only now, but for days afterwards—that other rebels stood in thousands on the hills.


Unlike Queipo de Llano in Seville, the leaders of the San Sebastian revolt took no advantage of the public dismay. They sat in their buildings wondering what next to do.


The white flags, since no one seemed to care for them, were shamefacedly removed. The public became aggressive. A paper called the Frente Popular was founded, and a committee of the coalition which it represented took over the management of San Sebastian, loud-speakers and all. Every radio voice sternly ordered the rebels to yield. Barricades replaced the white flags.


It was a matter of days to starve the people out of the Maria Cristina and the Club Nautico. The advertisement plane, naturally prone to untruth, flew over the Loyola barracks pamphleteering again: “You will all be spared if you surrender.” On July 30th, Colonel Carrasco and twenty other officers who had led the revolt in the Loyola barracks, and who had surrendered, were spared … further indignities by being propped against a wall and shot.


That’s what comes of confining yourself to barracks.


*


The Frente Popular in San Sebastian had now recovered its nerve, and began its house-to-house search for suspects. Arms were handed out to the townsmen whom it thought reliable. Country Basques, like the people of the village Azpeitia in the hills to the south, were not yet trusted. The basis of the militia was definitely urban and proletarian, not Basque Nationalist, and it is to that that I attribute its failure in Guipuzcoa.


Of course, there was no noise of failure now. Elated, they seized all the smart cars of the visiting aristocracy, painted them hugely U. H. P. (for Unidos Hermanos Proletarianos), and flagged them to party choice—red for Socialists or Communists, black-red for Anarchists, the pretty scarlet and apple-green cross of Basque Nationalism. In these new toys they raced hither and yon. It was a grand holiday now for all classes, except the Castilian Rights.


Very few of them took the rebellion seriously, even when the water supply of San Sebastian was cut off in the Pampluna hills.


Very few of them knew not only what modern warfare was—that did not matter: they were never to experience it—but what ordinary in-fighting with the rifle and machine-gun could be like in their own hills; they had to be taught even to fire rifles. For them life was a prolonged warm afternoon in Hyde Park without the moral censorship of the London policeman. Lovers in overall-uniform littered all the trenches. Preventatives, so long excluded by the Church from the armoury of the poor, were now to be found on every militia man. Eugenics were suddenly promoted to first place among the branches of proletarian military science.


It was illuminating to watch how the films had moulded their technique: the dear old Westerns, not your effete class close-ups. While the forage cap with tassel at the peak was the more natural military cap of Spain, a slouch hat was more highly prized, for it looked more devil-may-care. Even when they had to fight in the open they stuck to their flaming red bandanas, and battled with cigarettes in their mouths. Canadianas, however, were the most popular combative clothing in Guipuzcoa.


A Canadiana is the kind of jacket, woolly and checked, that a Western cowboy is supposed by Spaniards to wear when corralling cattle and doing desperate things to the sheriff’s daughter. The leading Frente Popular officers all wore Canadianas.


Revolvers, as the most dramatic and most useless of all weapons, dangled from all ranks.


The Committee of San Sebastian, which quickly made contact with the Committee of Irun, tried to reduce this new holiday mass to military order.


*


It seems to have been realised from the first that invasion of the next province, Navarre, could not be attempted. Guipuzcoa must stand on the defensive, and await the onset of Navarre.


A brother’s war: that was to be the way Guipuzcoa and Navarre would fight. A brother’s war, fought as affectionately as the war between Cain and Abel. For the Navarrese are also Basque.


I suppose it must be because they face landward, towards Castile, not seaward at the fish that the Navarrese have abandoned their Basque speech and, bar stubbornness, their Basque ways. But the difference between the two brother races is so astounding that the reason seems a wretched excuse to give. Navarre peasantry not only have no regional ambitions to be achieved by the passing of an Estatuto; they positively loathe anybody, like their brother Guipuzcoans, who have.


As fanatically as the Guipuzcoan and Vizcayan Basques desire a Federal Spain, the Navarrese will never be satisfied until the Peninsula becomes again the centralised absolute monarchy that it was under the Catholic kings. The friend of the maritime provinces, the Frente Popular Government, was Navarre’s select devil.


Enthusiastically Catholic, their Requeté formations had assumed not only the pressed scarlet beret of Carlism: on their hearts, pinned perhaps with tinsel saints and itself a poor flag of flimsy paper, they carried what they loved most—the Bleeding Heart of Jesus. To them Madrid and all its friends were anti-Christ; hideous Republican materialism. They hated, every man of them, the very idea of secular education: the teachers sent to instruct their children by Madrid were monstrous agents to be rooted out. Even women teachers were shot, or marched about Pampluna with shaven heads. For the intelligent people that they were, the extremism of their single passion takes the foreigners’ breath. They were served by a clergy which, for Spain, was not ill-educated nor naturally ill-lit in the mind. These, with long purple tassels hanging from their berets, fought beside them against their brother priests of Guipuzcoa, who stood with the Sacrament next the fallen militiamen ready to console him and flight his escape from the fratricidal earth. Or, if they were captured, these priests, by either side, they were shot as traitors. Alas, poor Yorick!


Initiative opened and remained with the Navarre Carlists. It was they who acclaimed Mola on the day of revolt in Navarre, and before evening provided him with thousands of picked men, and shook the square of Pampluna with their marching song. The Carlist clubs had long been ready for a last defence of Iberian Catholicism: their men, specially chosen for physique, military capacity, political dependability, even moral purity, were fully equipped, and answered the signal in a few hours. Soon they were hammering pieces of sheet-iron into place to make armoured cars out of lorries and chars-á-bancs—strange weapons for such uncompromising Traditionalists.


They were far better war material than the city militia of San Sebastian and Irun. They were better organised, armed and led; they were more numerous. They were despatched in two main columns against the province of Guipuzcoa, one along the Vera road aiming at the Bidasoa frontier and Irun, the other in the Vitoria highway to San Sebastian. Flowers of summer drooped from their hot rifles as they drove away in lorries through the larches, up the valleys of the rapid mountain rivers.


They had to support on either side, east and west, the single infiltration which the rebels had been able to maintain in Guipuzcoa: Beorlegui’s few hundred Carlist volunteers who held the mountain village of Oyarzun from the very beginning of the revolt.


Oyarzun is a small collection of Basque houses surrounded by maize fields, which lies only two miles south of mid-point on the road between Irun and San Sebastian. Roads from each town led to it, but no roads from the south. Beorlegui, therefore, depended for supplies upon mule transport, which struggled scattering stones from the mountain pathways of Three Crowns—their high route back into Navarre. Despite this initial weakness of his position, Beorlegui was never seriously threatened in Oyarzun.


I do not know whether to attribute it more to the rank inefficiency of the militia, or to the brilliant play that Beorlegui made of his opportunities; but the holding of Oyarzun meant the conquest of Guipuzcoa.


Beorlegui dispersed his seven hundred men on the two roads north-west and north-east of Oyarzun. They kept up a continual fire, and moved with alarming speed from point to point; and so Oyarzun, which the Frente Popular assumed must be held by several thousand men, was never attacked by them. At any time they could have taken Oyarzun in a day.


War, which most people think heroic or fearful, is made up of incidents like Oyarzun—opportunities lost by one side, exploited to the maximum by the other, and often cardinal to the main objective. Every war can be described as a series of colossal idiocies culminating in defeat, and if wars were always lost by the militarists it would be worth while debunking them on that model.


Instead of attacking Oyarzun the Frente Popular trained fortress guns upon the village.


The Basque coast from San Sebastian to Irun is sprinkled with forts built after the Carlist wars: Urgull and Ulia at the capital. San Marcos farther out, and the fortress of Nuestra Señora de Guadalupe between Irun and the sea. The old-fashioned 155 mm. guns of the last two now concentrated on Oyarzun. We used to enjoy the sight of Nuestra Señora performing from the Hotel Eskualduna in Hendaye Plage across the roadstead, where the placid Fuenterrabians fished.


Nuestra Señora was an undoubted nest of cannon. A fearful explosion from the ridge was followed by a heavy cloud of Scotch mist, which spread opaquely over Guadalupe mountain. I have never seen guns expel Djinns so large. The Frente Popular officer, who directed them, had to wait for the weather to clear away before he fired the next shot.


Victor Schiff, of the Daily Herald, I remember, interviewed this scientist. He found a learned-looking man, stoop-shouldered and thin as Professor Piccard, putting him in mind rather of a notary than an artillery expert. And I dare say a notary he was, and for all Beorlegui cared about it he was firing dud parchment bonds, for, though they smashed up Oyarzun, they did no damage to his soldiers. The old Morocco colonel, heavy and sear-faced in dirty overalls, with his battered glasses and his stick, soon taught the levies not to worry about a mere bombardment from antique coast guns. They pounded away at an empty village.


Thus it was at the beginning of August. From Hendaye, across the bay formed by the International mouth of the Bidasoa, one could see in the lovely summer weather, first, the fishermen in row boats fishing. Behind them the pinch-backed mountain Jaizquibel which ran level with the coast and above it, between Fuenterrabia and Pasajes, the port of San Sebastian. Fuenterrabia, a sprinkle of holiday villas, a heavy brown convent-castle upon the strand on the near end of Jaizquibel, the memorial cross of Nuestra Señora, and her occasional mist representing action. To the south of all this, and bound to France by two railway bridges and a road bridge, lay Irun, with its big railway yards, its wood mills and its chocolate factory, now bossed by a Frente Popular committee. Along the southern foot of Jaizquibel ran the road and railway to the other Frente Popular centre, San Sebastian.


South of the road a ridge of hills protected Irun from the land side. These hills began at Puntza on the Bidasoa, a little beyond the Spanish frontier village of Behobia. Dressing in pine along the crest, they spread out through Zubelzu to the central vantage of San Marcial, where a whitewashed hermitage, with a tall tiled tower, stood up to spy inland in the sea of the dark woods. Then the slopes tumbled down to Oyarzun, which was protected from Irun by another hill planted thick with pines.


Behind Oyarzun, the village always invisible at the back of its pine hill fence, rose the majestic Peña d’Aya, or mountain of the Three Crowns, 2,500 feet high. Its three rugged heads were yet luxuriantly green, and reflected the heat into deep Pyrenean valleys. Through glasses at this time we could see a small encampment near the easterly peak, and noiseless petty plumes of smoke showed that from somewhere it was being shelled.


This was the support camp of Beorlegui.


Along the frontier, east of all these inland heights and forest ledges, ran the River Bidasoa, in fields of maize which now were ripening and rustling like half-burnt paper; a narrow, shallow stream. On the Spanish side at every two hundred metres sprouted a small red brick douanier’s shelter, in front of which stood—or, in more frequent indolence, lay stretched—a Spanish frontier guard, performing upon a cigar. Behind this unconvincing barrier, and beyond the infinitely more wakeful maize, ran the small-gauge railway track, and the road which led via Enderlaza and Vera to hostile Pampluna. Both followed the glancing stream into the Pyrenees, where it ceased to be the frontier; and thence their course need not worry us, for it was through Carlist territory which never saw the war.


On the French side of the frontier everybody is letting out glasses and telescopes and advantageous rooms. Crowds are gathering on every hill, and experts in public strategy are preaching their own version of the Sermon on the Mount. The French love no news better than a war, and here before their eyes it is going to unfold itself, with running commentary for two francs from anybody who has done his military service and knows the names of the mountains opposite the Spanish sun.


At Enderlaza, on the boundary between Guipuzcoa and Navarre, the Frente Popular blew up the bridge which carried the Pampluna road to the other side of the Bidasoa, and from Erlaitz, a small ruined fort of the Carlist wars which stood near two miles on a hill-top down river, they peppered the gap in Carlist communications with two small cannon. Here were the beginnings of a nice little war. At this period, however, the lunch hour and the siesta were observed between twelve and five-thirty p.m., and night attacks were considered by both sides cowardly and mean.


By a sudden breach of this convention, which I can only attribute to a stroke of genius, the ridge of Pikoketa—next to Erlaitz—was occupied by the Carlists in the dark hours of August 10th to 11th. At the same time their second column poured into Tolosa, south of San Sebastian, where the Frente Popular line two miles outside the city, after withstanding three daylight attacks, was surprised and pierced. These two successes were the elements that set the Basque front into motion and braced the females behind the binoculars on the French side for something more like a bull-fight.


Larrañaga, the energetic young Communist who was San Sebastian’s War Commissar, raced into Tolosa just in time to haul his militiamen out. The boys in the red berets poured in through the gap, their amateur cavalry first. A San Sebastian armoured car, which careered through Tolosa without knowing that it has been lost, was turned to red pulp inside with a bomb.


The Carlist commander walked to the Alcalde’s house, where he found the remains of the meal which the Frente Popular officers had been eating. About one hundred prisoners were taken, but I doubt whether they were long kept waiting. On the 12th, the Carlists had occupied Villabona four miles farther north. The general offensive on Irun—San Sebastian seems to have been timed with the arrival of new aviation material from abroad, which Radio Castilla (Burgos) not only boasted, but Mola now used to bomb Pasajes.


At sea, too, the rebels were preparing to take the initiative. The cruiser Almirante Cervera (7,850 tons, eight 6-inch guns) moved eastward from Gijon, which it had been ineffectually bombarding. The battleship España (15,452 tons, eight 12-inch guns), the cruiser Canarias (10,000 tons, eight 8-inch guns), and the small destroyer Velasco (three 4-inch) got up a head of steam in the naval harbour of El Ferrol.


Now came the testing time for San Sebastian. On the 13th, five of the new Italian planes bombed the town: off the Concha, in the calm translucent sea, lay the low two funnels of the “pirate ship,” as the San Sebastian radio shrieked. Her needle guns were trained across the painted ocean upon Fort Urgull, whose old pieces replied by covering the Almirante Cervera from their height on a rocky forehead of land at the end of the Concha’s semi-circle. The Almirante Cervercüs ultimatum expired at midnight: if San Sebastian did not yield to the land forces, she was going to be blown to bits.


The answer was that prisoners of the families holidaying at San Sebastian would be executed if the town were attacked. Almirante Cervera thought again.


On the 14th up came España and Velasco, to begin the ultimatum game again, while leaflets from rebel planes ordered immediate surrender. So Lieutenant Ortega, the Carabinero who governed San Sebastian, threatened to shoot five prisoners for every person killed by bombardment from air or sea. Everybody laughed at this war of counter-threat except the prisoners.


It had become a strange town, the holiday resort of San Sebastian. Water was rationed at the fire hydrants in the street, and half the shops were shut. Everybody was nervous in the hotels behind the Concha (on whose beach, however, everybody still optimistically shrieked and paddled). Daily there were new arrests, but those who were left behind still listened without concealment to the rebel Burgos radio. The prisoners of the Right were taken to the Casino: in Irun, as a precaution against bombardment, they were put in the cellars of Fort Nuestra Señora de Guadalupe.


*


Pressure on Irun was increased by the sudden encirclement and capture of Erlaitz with its two guns on the 15th. Erlaitz had been doomed since the fall of Pikoketa: the interval had been used by the Carlists upon an ingenious scheme.


I have said that the road to Irun was cut—and very nicely cut—by the destruction of the bridge at Enderlaza. But that did not baffle the Carlist command. They tore up the railway for two or three miles south of Enderlaza, where it ran on the same side of the river Bidasoa as the road north of Enderlaza. Near Vera the railway could be joined from the road the other side of the Bidasoa by a perfectly undamaged bridge, which, as it was, connected the road with a country station. All they had to do was to roll the dismantled permanent way, and it became a rough road, corrugated but serviceable to their lorry traffic. A long tunnel provided ideal cover for shell-dumps (for the Frente Popular in San Sebastian had three old planes who sometimes bombed the Bidasoa valley).


In Irun they were much alarmed by the loss of Erlaitz, which straightened out the rebel right between Oyarzun and the Bidasoa. The planes, with scarlet bands across their wings, beat up the mist-laden Bidasoa valley in the evening to bomb—and hit French Biriatou with three or four light explosives. Attraction! The proprietor of the house charges two sous to spot the hole in his roof.


An armoured train, vamped up from an engine and a powerful little loose box used in happier days for taking bulls to bull-fights, was driven up the Pampluna line from Irun; in red letters upon the engine was “U. H. P.” The first engine driver commissioned to conduct the People’s Toy Special said “No,” so he was pushed into the cellars of Guadalupe. The second thought that engine driving would indeed be more comfortable, so off he blazed up the Bidasoa, fired his two machine-guns at the startled Carlists, and before they retorted came back to rest at Gastinaldia, a little village opposite French Biriatou and in front of the Puntza, where he was toasted as a hero. But I think the first engine driver was also a bit of a lad. When they brought him out for execution he kicked the chief of the firing squad in the stomach, vaulted a wall, swam across to France, and gave an interview to the Temps which struck everyone as commendably impartial.


It was now that the Frente Popular in Irun decided to abandon a policy of scrapping in the hills; at which the Navarrese beat them every day. The French and Belgian instructors who had been sent over the International bridge by the French Communist party began to construct a defensive line within the range of Guadalupe forts. The square Carabinero post below the Puntza, at the edge of the river Bidasoa, became a block-house. Thence each day we saw the line progressing through sand-bagged redoubts over the Puntza, under the pine trees on Zubelzu crest, across the valley gap where a rough road led up from Enderlaza to San Marcial. San Marcial was strengthened with artillery, and from the mountain in front of San Marcial the line led down to the Oyarzun trenches, built earlier in the struggle.


French and Belgians instructed the pupil militia in machine-gunnery, and a few odd cannon were hauled out of somewhere.


August 15th was the Feast of the Assumption: a great holiday and fiesta in France as well as Spain. Broad bourgeois crowds of French stolidity massed before the International Bridge at Hendaye and up the river: in Tolosa the Requetés brandished their rifles as they danced through the streets with little children, angel-winged in silver, to the strains of a military band. Thus did the French and the Spanish celebrate one of Catholicism’s high festivals—in the contemplation and preparation of war, sweetened by the little ones dressed up as unavenging messengers of grace.


Tolosa and Erlaitz were now the advanced headquarters of either wing for the attack on Guipuzcoa. When the pageant was over the Carlists left for the front. They took Andoain six miles south of San Sebastian.


One would have imagined that by now the offensive on San Sebastian and Irun would have been ordered on land and sea, and in the air. But, as a matter of fact, it was only ordered on the sea, whence it was hoped, perhaps, to destroy the coast fortresses which, laboriously swivelled round by their amateur crews, now threw their 6-inch shells beyond the Frente Popular line inland. On August 13th it will be remembered, the ultimatum of Almirante Cervera expired; on August 14th the somewhat repetitive ultimata of Almirante Cervera, España and Velasco expired again. The game of expiring could hardly go on for ever. It gives some measure of the time-table of this war that by the morning of August 17th, España and Almirante Cervera were not only determined, but ready to shoot.


Their offensive opened with full intensity when the coast haze was off the waters, at nine a.m. precisely. I looked from my balcony over the sweet blue sea at Hendaye: five miles out stood a long grey form, whose stiff funnel seemed to stilt it against the pale horizon. The España stood still. Two points of flame lit with a horizontal startlingness along her shallow side. Long after, the thunder of the double detonation: the hotel shook its windows together like a discreet dinner gong. Everybody’s head popped out. A deep boom! boom! and two great thickets of smoke rose round the fort of Guadalupe.


At the same time Almirante Cervera opened fire on the forts and the Concha of San Sebastian. I could hear the dull detonation of its guns through the long careful pauses of the España off the point opposite.


Almirante Cervera fired twenty rounds into the city before midday. Siesta. She fired thirty rounds, now she had the range more prettily, before four o’clock in the afternoon. Her objectives were the forts of Mount Urgull, San Marcos, Manpas and Choritoquieta. English people who went through the bombardment say that the population showed the greatest sang-froid: the women still queued in the streets for water, and went about their daily shopping on the Frente Popular chits, statuesque, hatless women of Spain.


At four, Almirante Cervera joined España opposite Guadalupe. España had been pounding Guadalupe without cease, but with long silences for the correction of aim. The Fort was now a forest of smoke to left and right, and shells sometimes slipped over the ridge into the pretty gardens just above Fuenterrabia. All the fishing boats had fled, and the deserted bay shook in obedience to thin pencil points of flame. Till seven they attacked the Fort, steaming steadily backwards and forth. It is astounding that they had not silenced it by evening, when they turned westward and home, the low sun swallowing in its spread furnace the mathematical fierce flickers of their artillery.


Guadalupe must have taken quite eighty shells. As night fell it dropped two of its own on ruined Oyarzun.


Next day Almirante Cervera opened on Guadalupe, España on the curved Concha of San Sebastian. Almirante Cervera’s guns alone were less impressive: where España had made our windows a dinner gong, with Almirante Cervera they simply rustled; would take no trouble. Guadalupe replied, 6-inch for 6-inch; and the Calvary above the Fort—commemorating Our Lady for miles around—split from each in a welter of unsubstantial yellow dust. In the afternoon Almirante Cervera sheered off to San Sebastian, where España at her aloof and solemn distance from the shore had been firing her heavy shells all over the town.


España that day discharged quite eighty rounds of 12-inch into the hapless town. The sirens sounded, and this day there weren’t any queues; the older people went down into the cellars. Only the children, the swarming children of Spain, played on in the streets. In the cellars even agnostics became religious and discovered a rosary to draw between the fingers. Mary, Mother of God … crash goes a shell through two storeys of the Maternity Hospital. Lips move to Our Father … another knocks the front off a rich man’s house in the Concha. In the Calle San Martin a woman is killed in a basement, for 12-inch shells dig deep. The thunderbolts scatter into the Avenida de Francia, the Calle Ronda near the Railway Station. They drop on Urgull, who barks a sharp reply. As Almirante Cervera carelessly steamed into line with España that afternoon, Urgull struck her in the side.


She made off west, and at eight-thirty she was outside Gijon, which now, except for the Simanca barracks, had fallen to the Asturians. Listing heavily to port, and showing a hole above the water-line she fired a few random shells into Gijon, then wirelessed El Ferrol that she was returning for repairs. I did not see her again for a long time.


In San Sebastian they counted their dead. Two girls of twenty-one and twenty-two, a woman of fifty, and an old man of seventy: thirty-eight wounded. So they executed eight prisoners, I believe without trial, as well as an infantry captain and four officers of Carabineros after court-martial. They had promised to execute: the war of menace and fulfilment had to drag its broken-backed way along, in Guipuzcoa no less than in the rest of Spain.


Next day, the 19th, the España shelled San Sebastian again, but the population had recovered from its funk. It is doubtful whether these naval bombardments were of any value: they silenced no forts, and the demoralisation that they caused was only temporary. The land forces did not even take advantage of the embarrassment of Guadalupe and San Sebastian to launch their general offensive. They were still waiting for reinforcements of men and artillery to fill the centre, and in their determination to be careful missed a golden opportunity.


On the 20th Guadalupe and the forts of the capital were firing inland again, and the navy’s work devolved upon the rebel air force, which from now on bombed Irun and San Sebastian without the intermission of a day, and with increasingly heavy loads.


They also began to bomb San Marcial from Italian Caproni 101 monoplanes. On the hills to the south, in bracken and pine, the crests were picked out now with the red-yellow-red of Old Spain. Each new position was marked with a gay little flag from the age of romantic war, and on the centre of each was a picture of the Virgin. The divine, emotionless eyes looked out on the folded mountains of Guipuzcoa, where war was almost invisible, yet everywhere. A few strands of barbed wire; a new brown mark upon a hill, where they have laid sand-bags for a machine-gun redoubt. But no man to be seen: how cruelly unlike the wars for which flags were invented, when smart lads and boastful veterans stood in scarlet ranks upon the neat incline, and the officer bowed like a gentleman with his absurd request: “Que Messieurs les Anglais tirent les premiers.”


Opposite Biriatou the Frente Popular are excavating the railway for a last minute mine. They have blown up the road behind it already. Their armoured train is two hundred yards back in Gastinaldia village, a few whitewashed houses in plane trees whose roots drink from the Bidasoa. All day echoes the exchange of machine-guns in the valley beyond Gastinaldia, where the Spanish mountains slope and tumble into the overlord Peña d’Aya. And next morning on the little hill across the river, where an apple orchard sprinkles the near skyline, in the very crook of the Bidasoa’s arm, I can see with the naked eye red berets in movement, only six hundred yards from the Frente Popular defensive line.


From the 23rd to the 25th the cruiser Canarias shelled San Sebastian and Guadalupe without killing anybody. One-hundred-pound bombs were dropped on Irun station, where dynamite experts were arriving from the Asturias, and Anarchists from Barcelona. These last came in by small parties through France and Hendaye: the French police kept their passage as quiet as possible: arms were issued to them when they reached Irun. In the quiet one could hear the coming of the storm. We went up to a little restaurant that let rooms at Biriatou, where from a ledge under vines in the French hills one could see both sides filling in.


Behind the apple-crowned hill, where the upper Bidasoa turned sharp east into Spain and the hill hid the road from the Frente Popular, Beorlegui’s men had hauled up a battery of artillery; it lay next the road, camouflaged with branches of the gay-green plane tree. Lorries were at rest further up the road and hundreds of soldiers in blankets crouched in this dead ground to take their food at evening. In the valley the enemy were very close, and echoes of random shots ran full melancholy circle of the bowl of the hills. Smoke from the small lonely farmhouses between had become extinct.


Deserters reported the arrival of a battalion of the Foreign Legion at Erlaitz. Pembroke Stephens saw them at Oyarzun: they were Beorlegui’s old Moroccan battalion, picked assault troops seven hundred strong. Most of them were Spaniards, with a few Germans.


They told Stephens that they had been flown across the Straits of Gibraltar in fifteen of the great convertible commercial-trooper-bomber planes turned out by Junkers: flown by German pilots. Each plane carried twenty-five men. They had fought at Badajoz.


It became very tense in Irun. Six-inch guns were planted in Fuenterrabia, low down near the water. Lighter artillery were limbered into position on a farm between Behobia and the Puntza. The high sand-bag barricade at the Carabinero post on the flank of Puntza was manned. The toy armoured train stood two hundred yards forward, in Gastinaldia, with steam up under the plane trees. The wounded Frente Popular militiaman stopped potting at white pigeons on the thick red-tiled roofs of Gastinaldia village: was taken to the rear.


The storm broke at six next morning, Wednesday, August 26th. It began upon equal terms in numbers, about three thousand men a side, but with artillery, rifle and automatic fire power greatly to the advantage of the rebels.




*





It was a night of desultory firing: but at six the machine-guns started in earnest across the Bidasoa, and we jumped out of our beds. For the rebels they spoke from the apple-crowned hill and their conversation was with Gastinaldia village: thence, rather more feebly, the Frente Popular guns replied. Three hundred yards of bracken and a gentle fold in the ground separated the fighting men.


On the road below Apple Hill I suddenly heard the low grind of tracks. River mist covered the road with a loose net of invisibility: in dim outline, moving very slowly behind it, rolled a light tank with a turret, from which came the steady stammer of another machine-gun. Cautiously, stopping and measuring its distance from the armoured train, it pattered its bullets on the resistant plating. Very gradually it moved up to the gap in the road: one by one, six armoured cars crept behind it. All scrawled in sweeping letters of white chalk Viva España!


Picture the scene, the sun just risen, the mist still rising. The river at our feet one hundred and fifty yards away: beyond it trembles with a flimsy stiffness a narrow field of maize, alternating with strips of open fallow. Beyond the maize, the straight little railway and the road running hand in hand across the front scene. Behind and above them, Apple Hill, and just beyond Apple Hill the back hangings of the stage, a magnificent curtain daubed pine-green, grey for the rock of the Spanish mountains, water-blue for the Spanish sky, gaining colour every minute under the new dazzling limelight of the southern sun. The mist scatters, the searching light scribbles the battle in full outline; a thousand rifles settle into staccato song. It is clear day.


To the right, the driver of the armoured train is machine-gunning from behind sand-bags on Gastinaldia platform. To the left, round the soft curve of Apple Hill, concealed in the maize, comes the first platoon of Fascist infantry. Only the yellow tips bend stiffly and shake their dry scalps as they pass. In the middle the tank stops, firing furiously, before the road gap.


The mine behind does not explode. Its electrical apparatus has been cut by a daring Carlist raid in the night. A young man runs from behind the tank into the hedge at the left of the road. With a white flag he signals the little castle off the road, to a safe passage into the field and back again. It tilts upwards. Others in sombre cowls, steel helmets dulled deep grey-green, pushed the tank behind. Up she goes, skirts the gap, tumbles down again. Very, very slowly she moves upon Gastinaldia.


It takes an hour and a half. There is a lot of stumbling backwards and forwards in war. Tank faced up to small armoured train; which was to turn first? …


At seven-thirty the engine driver jumped into his engine, when the duel was at only one hundred yards distance. With great dignity, as if it were the only gentlemanly thing to do, he pulled into retirement. The tank pondered a little, then drove forward into Gastinaldia and shot the dust off the ponderous red tiles and the white plaster off the bullet-bitten walls: to no one’s harm. The village was abandoned.


Infantry moved up through the maize, in stealthy groups, at the river-side. It shivered and parted. Out came a section in blue and khaki overalls, in scarlet berets, forage caps and steel helmets, clattering rifles, bayonets, machine-guns, grenades, blankets, pots, pans and aluminium cups. Plunging out of the maize they ambled head down and heavy over the fallow strip, fell flat as dead men behind the next sowing of maize. They fired all the time. Then, as the other sections came up, staggered up again and forward. At eight, they scattered grenades in the last crackling yellow patch before Gastinaldia: balls of white smoke, furry cobwebs hung around the maize heads. Then they rushed the village.


The young man in a beret who carried the red-yellow-red flag fell flat by the first house, grasping his stomach. He tried to rise, then fell again. A few others tumbled to a hidden machine-gun in the T-wood of young pines on the hill to the right, behind Gastinaldia: on whose crest the Frente Popular redoubts now stood in full sunshine, square, neat and challenging. I counted eight positions break into fire upon the fallen village. A few grenades were thrown by Carlists here, and in one house they hauled away a roof cover to snipe on the block-house down river.


Their officer, a tall young man, bareheaded, shouted orders: we could hear every syllable above the gun fire. His men, crouched waiting behind walls, cried “Viva España” and “Mañana a San Sebastian.”


The whole Frente Popular line began serious shooting. Every machine-gun sprang to quarrelsome life: one could hear the antiphony of light and heavy in the whole battle choir. Heavy artillery of the rebels began to drop high explosive in the sapling beds on Zubelzu, below the ridge and the redoubts. Brown mushrooms of smoke and earth opened out and clammied the sky above them. The Frente Popular replied with lighter pieces and shocking ammunition, which fell but often did not burst, between Apple Hill and Gastinaldia.


Two of the red-winged planes from San Sebastian tried to bomb the village station, the armoured cars still jammed behind the unmended gap, the savage artillery in the elbow of the Bidasoa. Over San Marcial and Irun again the Capronis glittered, scattering bombs and leaflets, YIELD. Aviation did not yet impress me.
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And so it went on until nine that night. After Gastinaldia no progress was made against the Frente Popular defences. But platoon after platoon of rebel infantry poured through the maize into Gastinaldia, and deployed through the bracken along the base of Zubelzu slope. Great squares of larches thickly intertwined spread in diagonal to the top, and the purple brown fern of the mountain side and its folded mule tracks also promised skilful cover.


What had happened elsewhere?


From Biriatou I could see little puffs of brown, distant shell-explosions, on the mountains behind Apple Hill screening the Peña d’Aya. This was Guadalupe shooting at Beorlegui’s artillery, which for its part did not shoot at San Marcial, his objective, because Beorlegui was afraid of hitting France. Instead it fired upon the left of his front, on the sector facing Oyarzun, where a violent battle raged.


Beorlugei directed everything from Erlaitz. That day his maximum advance, in the centre valley leading up to San Marcial, was a mile and a half. He had hoped to attack San Marcial in front and from the left flank, but the legionaires whom he used on the left went wide of their mark: it took several hours to fill out the line and adjust the error.


As night fell the dead and wounded were taken to the base, heads downward, on a mule. Shallow trenches were dug in front of Zubelzu. The Irun command claimed that they had killed two hundred in front of their line, which had not been pierced. I suppose we shall never know how big the casualties were, for in this war only the Foreign Legion kept a list of dead and wounded—and kept it secret. Certainly the losses of Beorlegui’s men were far greater than those of Irun: on the opening day of the battle for Irun not one of the redoubts was hit by his artillery.


Two advanced posts, Gastinaldia on the Bidasoa and a hill on the extreme left had fallen to the rebels.




*





Next day the fight continued with rather diminished intensity. The usual aerial bombardments by the rebels on the pine-woods of San Marcial, on Irun, and by the Frente Popular on the rebel artillery. Beorlegui’s men made some progress through cover at the farther end of Zubelzu ridge, where it hung in pine-mantled calm over the valley to San Marcial: but a frontal attack on Puntza at the nearer end, without preparation of artillery, led to several casualties. At midday bugles sounded the cease fire and the wounded were brought down on litters.


One could see that Beorlegui’s aim was still to pinch the Frente Popular line from front and flank, just where it curved in front of San Marcial. At its most sensitive point. But though he had a superiority of artillery, he had not yet enough to break through.


He now sent to Pampluna and to Burgos for more. Meanwhile the Frente Popular guns in front of Behobia laid down shell after shell along the Bidasoa. After midday the firing died down: at Biriatou now one smelt the acrid smell of battle, began to see the spreading tins and litter of war.


Deserters described the mixed force that was attacking San Marcial in the mountain angle: the left wing of Beorlegui’s army; 550 Legionaries, 450 Carlistas, 440 Guardia Civil, 400 Falangistas (Fascists), with officers nearly 2,000 in all. It was a nice cross-section, representative even as to proportions, of the forces supporting the rebellion in Spain. First Franco’s own army, the spearhead, rushed from front to front, ready for all desperate work: then the Navarrese, the deep regional enthusiasm behind the movement; the Guardia Civil, symbol of law and order, of a rather unthinking Spanish dignity, a self-respectful and solid conservatism; last, the new Fascists, a queer organ of the class war clamped rather artificially on to Spanish life, gathering thousands of adherents, few of whom were fit to fight. The love of a fiesta drew many of the lower classes into their ranks, in the Castilian country towns, Burgos and Palencia, Valladolid and Salamanca. Any social scrap iron was enlisted by the leaders of the Falange Española: it kept thoughtless people quiet marching them round in blue shirts to a blaring band, and the tougher specimens could be drafted into the trenches.




*





Friday, the third day of the attack, Beorlegui continued his pressure on the angle of San Marcial, despite losses to his legionaries. It was very hot. They were very tired: dispirited. But he was determined to get the most out of them. The Fuenterrabia artillery turned its attention entirely to them, leaving the Gastinaldia-Puntza front to the Behobia guns.


Gastinaldia itself was heavily shelled, and the two tanks and the armoured cars covered with summer greenery were forced out of the stuffy little village, now smoke-laden. They withdrew down the sultry valley just as their infantry on the slope which rose steeply up the redoubt of Puntza were driven back again. The third frontal attack on Puntza had failed: the rebel artillery, though only a thousand yards from their target, had not yet found and pulverised it.


Men in blue overalls could be seen running down, in cover of the pines. A machine-gun was withdrawn. Everyone was fidgeting for cover.


In the valley bottom, where bracken grew spongy and thick against the sallowing grass of Apple Hill, they had deepened and lengthened and parapeted the trenches. The rebels were digging in.


So had the rebels dug in on the furthest crest of Zubelzu. There during the night, spangling the black silhouette of the pines with blue points of light and dully piercing the country quiet with the solemn burst of bombs and mortars, they had established themselves inside the Frente Popular line. They bore a day of vicious counter-attack; fighting was thirsty and ungrateful under the mountain sun.


To counter this threat, the Frente Popular improvised two more shallow redoubts on the middle of Zubelzu.


As night fell on the scene, the heavy black spread of mountains was enflamed at point after point where pine-belts pulsated red under the incendiary shells of Fuenterrabia. Irregular splashes of hot red mottled the sad immovable horizon. Just across the river, which glinted the summer stars in less barbarous, less human outline, a farmhouse struck from Behobia threw to Heaven tormented scarves of fire. They were still digging and talking in the shadows fretted backwards and forwards by its rising flicker, when at eleven that night, the whole of Zubelzu burst into the sparkling geometry of battle under a cool clear moon.


It raged for four hours. A night battle in forest is a magnificent sight to see. The unpleasant details of war are sponged away by night. No tired men, no wounded in sweat, no dead lying heavy on the dry uncomfortable grass. You are saved the view of the broken ammunition cases, the discarded tins and piled filth of the temporary camp. Quickly trowelled trenches do not gash the fernbanks and the roads and fields are not pitted with ugly irregular shell holes under a pall of dust. War is idealised into a symphony of blue and yellow lights against a dull background of explosions: bullets and shells take the part of strings and portentous wind in an untiring orchestra.


It is ethereal, war by night. Over there, where Zubelzu woods look in profile up to Erlaitz, the dark forest glitters with thousand upon thousand tinsel flashes, level spurts of fairy flame that illumine the tree boles like stiff upright threads. At the centre of Zubelzu, where a sable dome of hill cuts the light and starry night sky, tinsel sparkles back. Between, mortars discharge like red reflecting ornaments and their shells explode like candles lighting yellow. Tinsel, hangings, candles, glitter, the dark background: what is this but a giant Christmas tree alight, now hiding, now revealing from its foliage the decorations of our childhood, surfaces that catch and splinter fire into its prettiest particles, scarlets and electric blues and golden rays too fragile to be touched.


Charming illusion to me, who sit wrapped in pyjamas and in an infant wonder, gazing across the river that spins under the moon. And I hear the harmless crackle of this tinfoil game, like hangings that rub with metallic sharpness against the branches of the shaken Christmas tree when presents are cut down; and the louder explosions—those are crackers pulled round the festive candles of Zubelzu.


No killing and maiming, thirst, hunger and pain to be picked out through curious field-glasses. Only the prettiness of war, under the moon and against the sober foil of mountain and pinewood.


The Legion lost many bold men that night, but they pressed the Frente Popular back to within two hundred yards of San Marcial. Before Saturday dawn they had dug in: painful detail reappeared.




*





Saturday and Sunday were quiet days, the fourth and fifth of the attack on I run. What a slow thing is war—in broad daylight. Beorlegui straightened out his line from Zubelzu down the slope to Gastinaldia and tried to penetrate the line to the right of San Marcial, but he was again beaten back. He took his tanks off the Gastinaldia road and sent them up the frontal track to San Marcial; an Italian officer there was astonished at their capacity for mountain-climbing.


Gradually, the artillery was being assembled from the back areas of rebel Spain. They and urban panic were to do for Irun, and for the whole of Guipuzcoa. Panic first.


At the week-end, rebel planes dropped leaflets saying that Irun, if she did not give in, would be bombed from the air and shelled from land and sea. I am told, but have not been able to verify, that the same threat was made against San Sebastian. The effect of this propaganda was astonishing.


The flood over the International Bridge at Hendaye began at about ten on Sunday evening. By midnight 1,500 women and children had crossed the bridge from Fuenterrabia, where the Alcalde had ordered the evacuation. Later during the night 2,000 crossed from Fuenterrabia and Irun, which had contracted the sudden fear; and at eight on Monday morning there was still a large clamouring crowd at the bridge waiting their turn to present permits and pass the barrier. All, including some disguised sympathisers of the Right or loyal servants of those already escaped, were dressed as poorly as possible and carried red favours to catch the sympathy of the frontier guards. (An idle and sedentary race of men, who spend their long span of life in al fresco arm-chairs, disposed in the celebrated Spanish formation of the tertulia or Conversational Circle, issuing tobacco smoke from their nostrils in centripetal monotony. But to-day they were quite foredone with work.)


Motor coaches cramming as many as fifty at a time came in throughout the day from San Sebastian. Others walked over the hills behind the firing line. Those who were lucky enough to crowd into the cars—which seated thirty—reported that light was entirely cut off in private houses and hotels of San Sebastian, and that women queued in the streets now for milk as well as water. Fish had not been sold for a month because of the rebel warships, who arrested all fishing-boats. Food of every kind was scarce and the daily arrests continued, filling the Casino and the battered Club Nautico with partisans of the Centre and the Right.


Though the continual bombardment from the air and the renewed attacks from the sea were getting on everybody’s nerves, they could see no inclination to yield. New militia were being enrolled, even from the young men of the suspect classes.


There was the same show of defiance that Monday in Irun, when its colours were given to a new militia unit, the Thaelmann group, in token of its determination to fight to the finish.


In the afternoon the number of refugees had risen to 5,000. For the most part they were women and children, or old men; but it was the beginning of the rout at Irun.


They carried their babies in their arms, other children clung to their black skirts or their hands, very frightened. Hardly any had money: they were the people, the real people. Many were crying. With them came their baggage, all that they could save; and it was their men who carried their baggage, and that was the beginning of the rout at Irun.


Baggage: first their clothes, old, neat and well-washed, like the clothes of all Spaniards. In bundles tied with rope, or pathetic crumpled suit-cases made of brown stuff like carton, cheap muck for the poor. Then their few animals were driven over, if they came from a farm: their iron bedsteads and their bed-clothes. Their few pictures: the men ran back into Irun to bring this and that piece of precious cheap furniture. One could see that it was the beginning of the rout at Irun.


The militia which defended Irun were fed and supplied by a system based on the home. It was their wives and mothers and sisters who cooked their meals: it was these and their girls who kept up their morale, who made them fight hard. The militia had sprung into being with the rebellion: it stood to reason that its organisers could not, in these brief forty days, construct out of nothing a perfect commissariat as well as an efficient fighting force. They had to take many things for granted. The Spanish home was one of them.


From now on the men defending San Marcial were not only poorly fed: the foreigners, the French and Belgian political enthusiasts who stuck it out in the front line, were not once relieved. Many young men of Irun, I know, fought to the end. But just as many remained in Irun to superintend the migration of their families, and their girls, and the children, whom Spaniards love so dearly: to save from the coming wreck the savings of a humble life-time, the carefully gathered objects, few but dear to them, which since their birth had made their home. They did not run away, perhaps, but they were busy in the rear-guard.


Their whole war organisation, a young structure and perilously balanced, tottered now from the base up. That evening, rather wildly, España carried out its promise and shelled Fuenterrabia. South of San Sebastian, when all eyes were turned towards the frontier, by a dawn surprise the rebels took Mount Buruntia, the last natural barrier between them and the capital of Guipuzcoa.


All day the roads to Irun from the south shook to the progress of heavy artillery, summoned by Beorlegui to blow the Frente Popular out of their last redoubts on the ridge. The sixth day ended.


When it was dark the enemies from their front line shouted or sang abuse at each other. The Navarrese Catholics were “priests’ bastards”; the Frente Popular were “Marxist canaille.” They also called each other “cowards”: to-morrow we were going to see what confirmed liars both parties were.


*


At seven o’clock on Tuesday morning, a lovely clear day, five rebel aeroplanes flew over Irun and dropped thirty 100-pound bombs, only two of which did not explode. Three old men, a child, and two officials of the Republican Centre, which they hit fair and square, were reported killed. Previous bombardments had concentrated on the station: this was general, to destroy and damage and to terrify the population. Irun was yellowed over in the sickly smoke. It drifted to sea.


On the way back the planes bombed San Marcial and set a large pine-wood in front of it on fire. This was the signal for the most bitter and determined offensive on the Government line Zubelzu-Puntza that we had seen, and for the heaviest artillery bombardment of the Civil War until Madrid stood its siege.


Immediately a battery of 155 mms. (6-inch), brought up by the rebels during the night to the angle of the Bidasoa, opened fire over Apple Hill upon the centre of Zubelzu. On Puntza and down the steep shoulder of the ridge to the Carabineros’ house, the shells of another 155 mm. battery fell in shattering mathematical line. A third battery farther inland dropped upon western Zubelzu. Three more concentrated upon San Marcial itself. Altogether fifty guns broke out upon the silent sunny ridge: so the rebels told Pembroke Stephens, and I believe it to be the truth.


High explosive was used. Beorlegui wanted to blow those redoubts to kingdom come and to split in a hundred red sopping pieces every machine-gunner in them. The rugged old man had, at last, the means.


Four shells at a time dropped regularly and four brown clouds rose on central Zubelzu. Four on Puntza. A thickening fog of smoke behind the pines at Zubelzu’s end showed where shell after shell battered San Marcial.


The shooting was good. Very quickly the shells narrowed the margin of error, leapt nearer the target, tumbled waterspouts of the hillside earth on the sparkling machine-guns, which jerked to rapid fire from each still neat redoubt, just under the skyline.


As the guns grew more accurate I saw two at least of the Frente Popular redoubts evacuated. In particular, they quit the most advanced and largest redoubt on Puntza, which jutting over T-wood had fought back many frontal attacks during the past week, and driven the hardy Carlists down the slopes to Gastinaldia. The last man to leave, very leisurely he was, carried a red flag. It must have annoyed. Ás he quit, a shell with a perfect direction seemed to blow the inside of the redoubt to pieces.


On the central point of Zubelzu, under the pines, a heavy battle with trench mortars and later with grenades raged between the front-line trenches, here only two hundred yards from San Marcial.


The guns ceased. The redoubts seemed empty. Infantry, covered by machine-guns which were pushed half-way up the steep of Puntza, were thrown into the attack across Zubelzu, three-quarters of the way up the mountain-side. They took cover in the red bracken which furred the slope, working rapidly round towards the river and the vacant redoubts. On the turf they ran in open order with, it seemed, machine rifles. They were too late.


As the barrage finished the militia crept back, along shallow communication trenches, to their damaged redoubts. None of us saw them return. But from the centre of Zubelzu they enfiladed the little fluttering figures in khaki and blue against the bracken, and the zip of the bullets from the advanced redoubt on Puntza drove back one of their supporting M.G.’s. The rebel infantry took refuge in a thick fir-wood. But they had gained ground.


They had made good all the slope this side of the pine crest to almost the middle of Zubelzu, and they had covered their winnings by the capture of the whole eastern Zubelzu ridge.


Across the slope, sheltered by hedges, their attack headquarters’ wing moved up, with a huge red-yellow-red flag at the head and a mule-train laden with two mountain guns behind. A small white farmhouse near the summit was occupied, the flag suspended from the window: in an hour smoke curled out of the chimney for the officers’ midday meal.


The mules picked their way down the hill, past seven trim yellow haycocks, sheltered in the valley, to Gastinaldia.


The next rebel assault was on their extreme right, by the road which led along the Bidasoa valley through Gastinaldia at our feet. Its objective was the Carabineros’ house at the corner down river.


Suddenly round the corner of the Pampluna road came four armoured cars and drove into Gastinaldia village. There, slowing down, they began to fire—they were home-made armoured cars from Navarre, an unusual variety. Sometimes through their surprising slits rifles protruded; sometimes the rifles were impulsively withdrawn and replaced by machine-guns. At one hundred yards from the Carabineros’ house they stopped, turned left to offer a broadside, and went on to permanent duty with their automatic weapons.


Their two batteries behind Apple Hill simultaneously opened on Puntza and the shelving ridge to the river. It was perfect shooting, precision repeated again and again. The advanced redoubt on Puntza was penetrated five times; its sand-bags scattered in pieces over the hill. It is impossible that any of the militia who recovered it survived. Later explosions blew up corpses into the air before our eyes.


At the Carabineros’ house, where the shells could not reach, the defenders stood their ground with the coolest courage. The armoured cars poured hail into their sandbags and ripped the massive plaster front of the house to pieces. Soon the top sand-bags were all shorn away. Not a shell from their own side came to their help, for the Irun artillery had been cowed for ever: only the shells of the enemy could be seen, blasting the steep shoulder of Puntza above their heads, shooting dust into the river below them.


I watched them through glasses at one hundred yard’s range, at this bottle-neck of the river which they held. They were calmly firing, cleaning their rifles, and firing again from the chairs on which they sat smoking. Defiant red bandana handkerchiefs showed their heads and necks. They did not turn a hair, fought the armoured cars behind their riddled sand-bags for an hour. The cars withdrew, their ammunition spent. Jeers and abuse rose from the Carabineros’ post.


During the afternoon the advanced redoubt on Puntza, twice destroyed, was reoccupied a second time by the militia.


At about five-thirty the third artillery barrage of the day was laid down on Zubelzu and Puntza. The advanced redoubt, now unrecognisable, showing no sand-bags but a crazy pile of earth and logs, was once more blown into the sky. A Government stretcher party came up to the post and took two bodies, then stumbled away. A shell blew the last of them into insignificant pieces on the horizon.


The other redoubts were not hit, and fought back a half attempt of the infantry to advance. A little shrapnel came over from Fuenterrabia to help the hard-pressed militia.


At eight in the evening they re-entered the advanced redoubt for the third time. Five more shells dropped in the dusk around the redoubt, which had taken forty-seven since seven o’clock that morning. Perhaps the little garrison were killed again; but at nine that evening the minute flashes of a machine-gun in the dark showed that Puntza was still entirely Frente Popular. They must have lost dozens of men; they held firm.


But at the angle in front of San Marcial, Beorlegui had now deeply penetrated their defences. Three-fifths of the slopes were his. He rested that night, after the most wearing day of the war.


*


Morning of Wednesday, the eighth day of the attack, came without clouds to disclose a position much as before. But the Frente Popular line across the saddle of Zubelzu and the high knoll of Puntza looked uneasy. Men sniped down into the near woods at awkward angles. The redoubts had been repaired, not thoroughly. Small tumbled squares of branch and sacking, dusty and pock-marked, they did not look as if they could stand more bombardment. But the morning passed quietly. Only short neuralgic bursts of the machine-guns in the muffled pines.


It was very hot at midday. A staff car, all glitter, passed up the road from Enderlaza to the rebel artillery at the road-side. The black beetle body twitched close to the ground round corner after corner: stopped by the camouflaged guns and the ammunition dugouts. As its dust steadied and dissolved in clear air, the reflective river caught the scene—black car, grey guns, under the fluttering plane trees and against the rich green of Apple Hill. Reflective river, contemplative sky. From rocks two hundred feet up I watched. Ammunition poured out of the ground at a quick command.


At twelve-thirty three guns in front of Fort Erlaitz, over there in the mountains, dropped shells on Zubelzu. A battery at the junction of the Pampluna-San Marcial and the direct Pampluna-Irun road followed. The battery at the angle of the Bidasoa below me took up the same terrible tune. Firing high explosive and shrapnel, they raked the ridge from where the pinewood ended to the advanced redoubt on Puntza, a distance of about four hundred yards. From left to right, from right to left they played. They blew the advanced redoubt to heaven for the fifth time in two successive days, and they shattered another position behind thin maize on the saddle of Zubelzu. The ridge was scarred and lacerated with war: brown gashes jetted a blood of sand and the skin of Puntza was punctured again and again.


The infantry, after their lesson of yesterday, were close enough.


At one-twenty, over two hundred shells had battered Zubelzu-Puntza ridge. Out of near thickets of young pines and fern the infantry moved up, heralded by four men throwing grenades, to the advanced position on Puntza. It was empty. They entered the redoubt walking in a trail, and over the bloody refuse there an officer raised the flag of the monarchy. Italian journalists by my side cried “Viva España,” and the Legionary reserves in Gastinaldia below broke out into a marching song of the regiment. Mules with mountain guns pattered forward.


Two platoons of rebel infantry burst out of rusty beds of bracken under Zubelzu saddle, to the left. Throwing bombs, the sunlight flanking their bayonets, they entered the sunniest position of the Frente Popular. The ridge of Zubelzu, its squat haystacks and its small farm-houses in grey ashes, was now entirely in their hands, and the flags moved forward like pins on your home-fought wars upon the map.


The artillery, which fired this afternoon at a rate which I had never seen before in Spain, turned again with a roar upon the extreme right, the eastern shoulder of Puntza, where a position on a lower peak still held out, hanging high above the Carabineros’ house and the Bidasoa. After twenty minutes of bitter fighting the monarchist flag stood on the redoubt at three o’clock. The battle went on at a speed that took one’s breath away: the Frente Popular line was crumpling up before one’s eyes.


Last came the turn of the Carabineros’ post at the river’s edge, below the steep. It held out stubbornly for two more hours, attacked by two machine-guns in front, one machine-gun from the fallen redoubt above, which covered the flank of their sand-bags. And finally they were encircled behind from over Puntza. Men crept down their old communication trenches, shallow ditches, to snipe them subtly.


The armoured train was sent away at four, being too valuable to lose. The defenders, thirty or forty men, squeezed into the sand-bags in front to avoid the flanking fire, and blazed straight ahead of them at the hidden enemy in Gastinaldia until the barrels were steaming from the barricade. Others manned every bullet-gnawed window in the house. At five the four armoured cars, beaten back yesterday, came up to the fight again and finished it.


Three hundred men in steel helmets with grenades and rifles followed them, trotting in bunches, shouting “Viva España” and cheering. The bullets flattened and skidded on the armoured cars in hundreds as they moved up. The cars drove up square to the sand-bag barricade and swivelled their guns into the defence. Dynamite sped from the touch of the red cigarette: the infantry flung their grenades over the sand-bags, and the block-house was a hell of smoke, cries and explosions.


Fifteen minutes’ hand-to-hand, round the sand-bags and about the house: the most desperate defence on the Irun line was overcome, and the survivors ran from the reddened road or jumped from the windows to roll into the river. Scrambling back under the cruel sweep of the bullets, many of them made their way into the maize behind the block-house, others lay dead. Fighting went on inside the house for half an hour: those who were caught within would not surrender. Three cars behind the post turned Irun-wards that flew the red flag burst into flames with bullets through their petrol tanks. Men in the maize crept away on their stomachs, across the rich green runnels that irrigated the fields of Behobia, grateful for this smoke and for these thick dangling tresses, stiff military stalks and impenetrable leaves of the corn. The machine-guns on the crest fired steadily into the fields, wounding some.


That day all the old men and women and children of Behobia ran across their little bridge, by the green Island of Pheasants where Louis XIV once sought a wife, into French Behobie. In Behobie everything was shuttered up, bullets sang and caressed the walls, the French women and children cowered in shelter. The whole French bank was sprayed with the rebels’ fire.


On San Marcial, now, they concentrated all their artillery.


At seven that evening a few survivors deafened and bleeding from the barrage, crept down the supply road that yesterday had still seen the lorries pass up from Irun to the white convent. Its high tower, which fringed in pines dominated Irun and Fuenterrabia like a warning finger, was no longer Iran’s. Night fell. The whole line had fallen to the enemy.


The Frente Popular had promised them heavy street fighting in Irun. Even now one knew as one saw the men crouch in the maize, firing back at some desperate target, at no target at all, at the accursed ridge treacherously fondled by the summer twilight: even now one knew that their bruised moral was past the reach of medicine. As long as they could they fought heroically. It was an unequal battle that laid bare Irun, won by the side with the artillery. Against the remorseless salvos of Beorlegui’s trained batteries the Frente Popular sent back precisely ten shells, five of which did not explode and none of which did harm.


Now that it was too late, in the dark, the guns of Fuenterrabia sent a few more shells into San Marcial hill.


*


Towards midday of Thursday the rebels moved up their artillery along the Bidasoa. Lighter field-pieces were hauled into the rich sun on Puntza ridge. About twenty lorries and half a dozen staff cars passed to and fro. By four-thirty in the afternoon the people of Biriatou, agape on their hill on the French side, watched over 1,500 new troops, material for the direct assault on Irun, pass beneath them. All sorts of uniforms were there, for the army attacking Irun was one of the most heterogenous in the world—regular army, Tercio, Carabineros, Guardia Civil, Guardia de Asalto, Requetés and Falangists and Renovacion Española, of the monarchist fraction.


One thousand deployed to the left at midday, over the steep slope of Zubelzu to San Marcial: how quiet it was after the battle! At four-thirty, two hundred of the rest were standing ready around the old advanced redoubt above T-wood on Puntza, listening to a speech from their commander, while the Frente Popular raggedly shelled the country in front of them. The rest gathered at the battered Carabinero post on the Bidasoa, with their four armoured cars and a field gun. They were immediately ordered forward.


The ground, which is level meadow land planted with maize between the railway and the river all the way to Behobia and rises gently to the smooth seaward slopes of Puntza and Zubelzu, had been combed throughout the night by patrols. These had occupied some of the scattered farmhouses where Behobia tailed out into country. During the morning there had been much monotonous sharp-shooting at the village boundary, where all was shuttered up and no chimneys smoked, and in the maize. Shells on San Marcial for a while inspirited the Behobia Militia, who included two women and several boys in blazers.


Many had fled in panic across the bridge the night before. Those who stayed took turns at the machine-guns, while their friends came over for drinks and a short rest in a bullet-spattered bar in French Behobie. Fine handsome men, some of them; their drinks finished, back they went to the machine-gun, with a friendly salute to the French gendarmes.


Or they helped to save things forgotten in yesterday’s panic. Beds, sewing machines, dazed poultry, baffled pigs, finally two magnificent marble barber’s chairs with the shaving paper still unrolling from the back like carnival streamers were trolled across the bridge.


That afternoon they fought back the rebel advance along the road, and the rebel machine-guns which, at long distance, pattered on their roofs. The armoured cars were kept back by dinamiteros hidden in the maize. Two machine-guns of the Frente Popular did their best from the Spanish Quarantine Office at the frontier bridge-head, and from behind an old stone wall at the riverside. By sunset no progress had been made along the road, but the rebels had descended San Marcial and were encircling Behobia.


A match factory burned from end to end that night beside the Bidasoa. In the weird, unsteady half light the militia of Behobia, nervy and cold again, could be seen one by one slinking into France. It was drizzling; the world shivered. One by one in the shadows, till two hundred had handed their weapons to the French guard.


At two that morning a devastating fire was poured into the village from all sides. The armoured train—wretched little toy—moved back to Irun. The machine-gunners at the bridge-head stood their ground until their drums were finished. At four, nineteen fled into France; the twentieth lay dead. The troops of Beorlegui occupied Behobia, hoisted the red and yellow flag at the bridge, gravely bowed to the French.


Between four and dawn, militia posts on the way to Irun were surrounded and their occupants killed. One or two hastily dug trenches on the Irun road were cleared; so was the debris of the match factory, which barred the way of the armoured cars. It was all very expeditiously done; resistance was feeble.


A chance shot set the dynamite workshop near Irun station ablaze with a mighty explosion.


Panic must have been struck into the Government Committee at Irun by this sound … by the fall of Behobia … by the return of the armoured train … by the break-down of their entire defensive organisation, the utter hopelessness of their task. Their followers say that the members of the committee who ruled Irun were the first to quit—at four in the morning. Only the foreigners and the Anarchist leaders remained. A traditional Spanish fraction of the Left showed traditional Spanish stubbornness.


Irun went stark, staring mad.


It started before dawn. The militia began to bolt across the International Bridge between Irun and Hendaye, where road and railway cross the Bidasoa on three separate structures. First they were few, then they came in hundreds. Road or railway bridge, it was the same to them; over both flew the bullets of the terrible rebels, terribly near Irun.


Some ran, most crept and crawled. They were an abject spectacle. They said that they had no ammunition left, no leaders: they were bitter about their leaders. All their limber came over with them—the dear old beds and wardrobes, the dear old pigs and poultry. Through the day two thousand crossed the bridges. Cars still painted in the party colours of the Left shot over into France; returned to Spain in reverse, so afraid were their drivers of the risks of turning in Irun. Mattresses were laid out in the mud.


Hendaye was packed. Those who wished to continue fighting—five hundred men—were grouped at the station for a special train which was to take them to Barcelona. Those who had had enough—three-quarters of this demoralised wreck—were sent by car and lorry to camps at Pau, Bordeaux, Angoulême and Poitiers. But they had not changed their political views. They drove through the town with clenched fists, flourishing red ribbons, perched on enormous bundles.


As they burst through the bridges, a company of French troops was sent to aid the struggling gendarmerie. Arms had to be taken away and dumped, directions given.


Throughout the morning the evacuation of a different class went on from Fuenterrabia. Many holiday-makers of the Centre and the Right, caught and half-imprisoned there after the suppression of the military revolt at San Sebastian, were escaping across the Bidasoa in fishing boats. Even some of the hostages in Guadalupe escaped that day. And though Larrañaga, the War Commissar from San Sebastian, threatened with his revolver the Militia who would fight no more in Fuenterrabia, he could not stop them from embarking also. The fishermen of Fuenterrabia, a generous race, manned their smacks and rowing boats free of charge to ferry the mixed refugees of all parties over to France. In Hendaye could be seen, sitting on briny trunks in rough clothes, tieless, hatless and unwashed, anybody from a stubble-chin Spanish marquess downwards. A few days of suffering had blurred many of the outer distinctions of class.


Heart-broken fathers and mothers ran through all the hotels of Hendaye. “Can you tell me what has happened in Guadalupe? Have they killed them? My son is there. Have you news?”


Meanwhile the Anarchists, under the black-red flag, had taken charge of the whole of Irun, Fuenterrabia, and the Guadalupe promontory. A few determined foreign Communists set up a machine-gun post at the International Bridge, which fired towards Behobia.


First, the Anarchists destroyed two pieces of artillery for which they could find no more ammunition, and then they fired a few shells through the rest at random. They dynamited and shattered the houses where the army of Beorlegui was threatening to enter Irun. They burned most of the cars in the garages, and with the petrol that was left they lit houses at all the entrances to Irun. They circled the town with flames. Then they turned to the centre.


They lit the gambling club, the Paris Hotel, the chocolate factory, the station, the whole Paseo de Colón, and many other streets in the centre of the town. They poured petrol over this roof and that. Forty-odd cars were brought over safe and sound from the Customs; but shots were sent by the Anarchists through the petrol tanks of those left in the streets, and they burst into flames. The whole day, from sunrise to sunset, they poured benzine and threw dynamite over the little town of Irun, which once housed sixteen thousand Spaniards.


As the sun of the tenth day set, Irun, a fair understudy, took its place in the sky. Irun was burning sulky red at a hundred points that stifled the dark. Along the Avenida de Francia, where the cars were candles in a row, long flags of flame flickered now all the way to Irun; there a ravenous and pulsing furnace swallowed up their individual life, obliterated their frailer, more sensitive, and volatile existences in universal Fire. It covered the night horizon with itself: its smoke billowed upward to soot out the stars. Against it one could sometimes see moving darkly the tormented and violent people who created it.


*


On Saturday morning Beorlegui occupied the town with a regiment of mixed infantry, four armoured cars and two companies of the Tercio. The rest of his force lay outside the town, which was still burning: its main streets were now a cracked and smoky shell, squeezing from its crevices cinders and intolerable heat. Nearly all the factories had been burnt, and the hotels and a part of the station. Here five men held out, and were dispatched with grenades. Two or three cars rushing through the town were shot at until they stopped or went up in flames. A few prisoners were taken, and shot. A few old women, to the surprise of all, were found to be still peacefully residing in burning Irun. Since this was Basque territory, the churches had been spared.


The men who escaped over the bridge at the finish, about midday, were mentally prostrated. They beat their heads with their fists, chewed the stuff of their overcoats, wept bitterly without respite. Two had terrible stomach wounds.


It was midday when the armoured cars came down to the Customs House at the bridge, and drove out the last machine-gun post of Irun. Two of its little crew were caught by the biting bullets in the girders of the railway bridge, half-way to safety, and turned convulsively over the permanent way, spouting blood and slowly dying. The victors dragged them back; they died on the road as the monarchist flag was hoisted over their poor empty munition box and their scattered shells, and the Navarrese covered their faces and danced in a ceremonious circle to celebrate their conquest of an outlet to the sea.


These men who stuck their ground were both foreigners. I have the Communist Party unemployment insurance card of one, a young lad from France.


It was Beorlegui’s hard-won victory; his day. His stubborn, ruthless and persistent spirit had seen the matter through from the beginning, when he kept the Carlists steady under gun fire at Oyarzun. He made mistakes, particularly in the first days of the assault on San Marcial, when he attacked without artillery preparation. But he was a fine and fearless soldier: to him alone the conquest of Guipuzcoa was due.


As he watched the final battle at the bridge, a bullet from that French boy’s machine-gun struck Beorlegui in the calf. He made light of it, went back to Vera to have it dressed, returned to lead his troops to San Sebastian, the next step. He was dead within a month, for the wound gangrened.


I wonder what was his conversation with the young Frenchman when they met to compare notes and their mutilations in the other world? Under the labels, I dare say, they had much in common. The mother tongue of both was courage.


*


The first news that we had of Guadalupe and its prisoners that afternoon was from a small rowing boat seen off Hendaye at seven-thirty. It was manned by four men, who held up its solitary oar with handkerchiefs tied to the end, as signals of distress. A wind was blowing up from the Gascony Gulf, and the sea was short and choppy in the twilight; the boat soon tipped over. Twenty minutes later a solitary swimmer came ashore, exhausted. The others were picked up in the surf-singing dark by a Basque fisherman. They were all hostages from Guadalupe.


Meanwhile at Hendaye Point, where a spit of sand narrows the Bidasoa mouth, a different crew could be studied across the river, under a noisy northerly gale that fretted and thrashed the fishing quay. The last defenders of Fuenterrabia were burning all the cars they could lay their hands on, or driving them light-heartedly off the quayside into the cold and clamorous surf. Thrilling contrast: the icy wind and waters, the cars red-hot, wallowing devils. A small trawler lay off shore, bumping up and down; it filled up gradually with the wild-haired militia, with three women and two boys. A man plunged into the river near the rowing boat which was attending the trawler. He dined with me that evening in Hendaye. He was Señor Casadevante, a young Spaniard, son of a member of the Diputacion (County Council) of San Sebastian, and he had been imprisoned in Guadalupe since the middle of August.


He said that there were over two hundred people there, thirteen of whom had been shot.


They were kept in the cellars of the fort, which were unlit and which surrounded a small courtyard where the prisoners were not allowed to take exercise. They were fed fairly regularly, but there were no sanitary arrangements.


At the beginning of the week, when Fuenterrabia was evacuated, there were five escapes from prison, among them Señor Manuel Blanco, the individualistic railwayman, who had shown a certain unwillingness to drive the Government armoured train into action. The four others were shot.


There were no further shootings until Friday, said Casadevante, although the prisoners were frequently assembled in the courtyard and threatened. On Friday, the morning that Irun panicked, their guardians fled. Only slowly they realised that the prison was no longer held, and a few daring spirits got out. While the rest were working out a plan of escape, C.N.T. lorries arrived. The Frente Popular committee had thrown up the sponge and the extremists were succeeding them.


The C.N.T. men called up their prisoners, and from the roll selected the names of Honorio Maura and Jaoquin Beunza. Maura was a Deputy and a leader of the Renovacion Española, the Monarchist group in the Cortes; he came of a famous political family, for his father, Antonio Maura, led the Conservative Party under the Monarchy, and his brother Miguel was the first Minister of the Interior under the Republic. Maura also wrote comedies and was political correspondent of the A.B.C. Beunza was a Deputy and leader of the Basque Traditionalists, a small fraction of the Right opposed to the Basque Nationalists.


The two men were led out and a machine-gun was heard. Their bodies were rifled and thrown into the shell-holes left by the rebel cruisers España and Almirante Cervera.


During Friday afternoon and evening the C.N.T. seemed to be losing grip and the F.A.I., the central Spanish Anarchist organisation, took over the guard of the prison from them. They called up the prisoners again and made a punitive choice.


Leopoldo Matos, who had been a Minister under Antonio Maura and under General Berenguer; Felix Churruca, an engineer; Miguel Ayesteran, the priest of Fuenterrabia; Saez, of the Guardia Municipal of Irun; Galarza, a captain of night-watchmen; the Marqués de Elosegui and the Conde de Llobregat, a retired officer who had been A.D.C. to the Prince of the Asturias—these were led out, and the machine-gun was heard again. The prisoners were called up a third time, asked if they had said their prayers, told to face the wall … the guards laughed, and sent them back to the cells again.


Friday night was a night of fear for them, spent upon their knees. Next morning they saw the kites skirting the prison on flat wings, then diving suddenly at the corpses. The same tricks were played on them again … nobody was shot.


They wondered what was to happen to them, when at five that afternoon they suddenly saw that their guards, whose heads only had been visible to them above the cellar windows, had disappeared. All except one, who beckoned to them to come out. They ran through the zig-zag passages of the prison and through holes knocked by shells into the open air. Then divided, for they were sniped at as soon as they were seen. The last Anarchists were leaving Fuenterrabia below.


Four of the hostages took a boat, others sheltered in fishermen’s cottages. Casadevante ran down to the Fuenterrabia quay and dived in wearing his shirt and beret. The tangle of currents caught him and drifted him dangerously near a steamer where the Anarchists were embarking under arms. A fisherman in a rowing-boat picked him up and advised him to lie in the bottom with his beret over his face, as if drowned. The calm old man then pulled over to France in the company of the Anarchist steamer, chatting amiably with them about his aristocratic “corpse.”


*


That evening the bells of the brown convent in Fuenterrabia, by the massive ruined walls of Charles V’s castle, played a cheerful tune in the tenor: and as the sun was sinking they ran up the red-yellow-red of old Spain. It was the fugitives of Guadalupe who occupied the village. Next morning, in a hysteria of cheering and song, they welcomed the military and were shouldered high.


Why spin out the story? The fall of I run led to the immediate fall of San Sebastian, to which Larrañaga now retired.


The one thing that the Basque Nationalists of San Sebastian would not tolerate was the burning of their city: they took arms against the Anarchists, a small faction, and with the women of San Sebastian demanded the surrender of the city without a fight.


Thirty thousand left for Bilbao: they were terrified of the Moors—of whom I saw none yet on this front. In their frantic hurry they did not open; they simply sawed off in a solid block the coffres forts of the banks of San Sebastian, shoved them on to a lorry and drove them to Bilbao.


Beorlegui’s men entered San Sebastian without a shot fired. The old colonel reviewed his troops from a window, seated in a chair, then withdrew to die.


The new Frente Popular line lay between Eibar, the arms factory and the sea: just behind the provincial boundary of Vizcaya. All Guipuzcoa, with its splendid access to the sea, fell to the rebels. The position was not to alter materially for six months.


Every effort was now concentrated on Madrid, because Franco ordered it, and because Bilbao under a government of moderates had at last found the means to defend herself.
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